Table of Contents

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

- § 1:1 Scope
- § 1:2 Prong one/step one
- § 1:3 Prong two/step two
- § 1:4 Exemptions—When the anti-SLAPP statute is not available
- § 1:5 Terminology

CHAPTER 2. PROCEDURAL ISSUES WITH ANTI-SLAPP MOTIONS

I. INTRODUCTION

- § 2:1 In general
- § 2:2 Civ. Proc. Code § 425.16 "shall be construed broadly"
- § 2:3 This protection extends broadly to communicative and noncommunicative conduct
- § 2:4 Courts broadly construe Civ. Proc. Code § 425.16
- § 2:5 Anti-SLAPP statute available beyond "paradigm" SLAPP suit
- § 2:6 No showing of intent to chill required
- § 2:7 Declaratory and injunctive relief actions
- § 2:8 "Consequences" of applying Civ. Proc. Code § 425.16 not considered
- § 2:9 Constitutional challenges to Civ. Proc. Code § 425.16 rejected
- § 2:10 What is a "cause of action" under Civ. Proc. Code § 425.16?

II. USES OF ANTI-SLAPP MOTIONS

- § 2:11 Multiple uses of anti-SLAPP motions
- § 2:12 Entire complaint
- § 2:13 Individual cause of action
- § 2:14 Portions of a cause of action
- § 2:15 Cross-complaint
- § 2:16 Petitions against harassment
- § 2:17 Declaratory relief actions
- § 2:18 Federal claims
- § 2:19 Compare—Issuance of a subpoena is not subject to an anti-SLAPP motion
- § 2:20 —Demands for private arbitration

§ 2:21 —Litigation in a foreign country

III. WHO MAY FILE AN ANTI-SLAPP MOTION?

- § 2:22 "Person[s]" under Civ. Proc. Code § 425.16
- § 2:23 Individuals
- § 2:24 Corporations
- § 2:25 Successor in interest
- § 2:26 Nonprofit organizations
- § 2:27 Government
- § 2:28 Compare—No government attorney's fees recovery for Public Records Act and Open Meetings Law actions
- § 2:29 Politicians and elected public officials
- § 2:30 Persons acting on behalf of others
- § 2:31 Defendant's size and wealth is irrelevant
- § 2:32 Frequent users of the anti-SLAPP statute
- § 2:33 —Attorneys
- § 2:34 —Media

IV. WHEN TO FILE?

- § 2:35 Timing issues
- § 2:36 Within 60 days after service of complaint
- § 2:36.50 Application—Discretion upheld
- § 2:37 —Discretion abused
- § 2:38 Filing a special motion to strike—60 days extended by manner of service
- § 2:39 Court need not explain its decision
- § 2:40 Change of venue extends time 30 days
- § 2:41 Hearing date to be scheduled within 30 days of filing
- § 2:42 Court clerk to set hearing within 30 days
- § 2:43 Waiver of untimeliness objections
- § 2:44 Required documents to support an anti-SLAPP motion
- § 2:45 Declarations required
- § 2:46 Evidentiary objections
- § 2:47 Parties required to give notice to Judicial Council of California
- § 2:48 [Reserved]

V. FILING ANTI-SLAPP MOTION AUTOMATICALLY STAYS DISCOVERY

- § 2:49 Effect of filing an anti-SLAPP motion
- § 2:50 Immediate stay of discovery
- § 2:51 —Rationale
- § 2:52 Compare—In federal court—No automatic stay

VI. PROCEDURE TO OBTAIN DISCOVERY TO OPPOSE ANTI-SLAPP MOTION

§ 2:53	Procedure to obtain discovery
§ 2:54	Noticed motion required
§ 2:55	'Good cause' showing
§ 2:56	Trial court has discretion
§ 2:57	Application
§ 2:58	Plaintiff may not amend complaint to nullify anti-SLAPP motion
§ 2:59	Compare—Amendment permitted to show probability of plaintiff's success on the merits
§ 2:59.50	—Amendment permitted to name a new defendant
§ 2:60	-Amendment considered where no objection
§ 2:61	—Amendments possible in federal court

VII. TRIAL COURT'S RULING ON ANTI-SLAPP MOTION

§ 2:62	Trial Court's Ruling on Anti-SLAPP Motion
§ 2:63	In general
§ 2:64	Statement of decision requirement
§ 2:65	Effect of granting anti-SLAPP motion
§ 2:66	No denial with leave to amend in state court
§ 2:67	Denial of an anti-SLAPP motion is not admissible
§ 2:68	Appeal
§ 2:69	Automatic right of appeal
§ 2:70	Writ relief
§ 2:71	Compare—No right to appeal prejudgment ruling on anti-SLAPP motion in a limited civil case
§ 2:72	Interlocutory appeal in federal court
§ 2:73	Compare—In federal court no interlocutory appeal if plaintiff is given leave to amend complaint
§ 2:74	—No interlocutory review of a plaintiff's attorney's fee award
§ 2:75	A motion for reconsideration
§ 2:76	Court's ruling on motion for anti-SLAPP attorney's fees does not extend appeal deadline
§ 2:77	Notice of appeal automatically stays trial proceedings
§ 2:78	Compare—No stay of proceedings of causes of action not affected by anti-SLAPP motion
§ 2:79	No stay of judgment awarding fees and costs
§ 2:80	De novo standard of review—On appeal
0 0040 757	T

§ 2:81	Rationale
§ 2:82	Trial court's ruling on evidence supporting/
3 4.02	opposing Anti-SLAPP motion—Abuse of
	discretion standard of review
§ 2:83	Appellate court may decide prong two in the first instance or remand
§ 2:83.50	
§ 2:83.70	-
_	
VIII.	FEES AND COSTS
§ 2:84	Fees and Costs
$\S 2:85$	Mandatory attorney's fees and costs for a
	successful defendant
§ 2:86	-Rationale
§ 2:87	Three procedures for recovering attorney's fees under Civ. Proc. Code § 425.16
§ 2:88	Deadline for a separate motion for fees
§ 2:89	No fee recovery when plaintiff dismisses before an anti-SLAPP motion is filed
§ 2:90	Fee recovery when dismissal occurs before anti- SLAPP motion is decided
§ 2:91	Fee recovery after voluntary dismissal
§ 2:92	Fee recovery for a partially successful anti-
0	SLAPP motion
§ 2:93	Compare—No fee recovery for anti-SLAPP
	victory with no practical effect
§ 2:94	Attorney's fee recovery against a party—Not counsel
§ 2:95	Exceptions to fee recovery—No anti-SLAPP
	attorney's fee recovery for the government in
	open meetings and public records litigation
§ 2:96	Appellate fees and costs recoverable
§ 2:97	Fee recovery if plaintiff abandons appeal
§ 2:98	Fees and costs to enforce and collect judgment
§ 2:99	Only "reasonable" fees recoverable
§ 2:100	Lodestar approach
§ 2:101	Pro bono representation is compensable
§ 2:102	No fees for self-represented lawyer or law firm
§ 2:103	Application—Attorney's fee awards affirmed by appellate courts
§ 2:104	Plaintiff's mandatory fee recovery (sanctions) for defendant's filing of a "frivolous" anti-SLAPP motion
§ 2:105	Meaning of "pursuant to Section 128.5"
§ 2:106	Court must make "frivolous" finding
§ 2:107	An anti-SLAPP motion that is granted only in
0	part is not frivolous

§ 2:108 Court must recite "frivolous" conduct § 2:109 —Application

IX. ANTI-SLAPP MOTION IN FEDERAL COURT

§ 2:110	Generally
§ 2:111	Rationale
§ 2:112	Federal courts apply substantive California law
§ 2:113	Federal courts broadly construe the anti- SLAPP statute
§ 2:114	How Civ. Proc. Code § 425.16 is treated in federal court
§ 2:115	Anti-SLAPP motions in federal court
§ 2:116	When treated as a Rule 12(b) or (c) motion to dismiss
§ 2:117	When treated as a Rule 54 motion for summary judgment
§ 2:118	Mandatory recovery of attorney's fees and costs provisions are available in federal court
§ 2:119	—Rationale
§ 2:120	Civ. Proc. Code § 425.16, subdivs. (f) and (g)— The Discovery and Timing Controls of the anti-SLAPP statute do not apply in federal court
§ 2:121	Immediate appeal available if anti-SLAPP motion is denied
§ 2:121.50	Compare—No immediate appeal available if public interest exemption applies
§ 2:122	—No immediate appeal available if anti- SLAPP motion is granted with leave to amend
§ 2:122.50	—No immediate appeal is available to plaintiff if the anti-SLAPP motion is granted
§ 2:123	Discovery proceedings stayed pending appeal

CHAPTER 3. PRONG ONE: ACTIVITIES AND CONDUCT SUBJECT TO ANTI-SLAPP STATUTE

I. INTRODUCTION

 $\S~3:1~$ Prong one of Civ. Proc. Code $\S~425.16$

II. DEFENDANT'S SHOWING/BURDEN IN PRONG ONE

§ 3:2 Defendant's required prong-one showing

§ 3:3	Defendant's underlying activity is the focus
§ 3:4	Court must consider the parties' pleadings and evidence
§ 3:5	The merits of plaintiff's claims are irrelevant in prong one
§ 3:6	The legality of the defendant's actions is not the focus in prong one
§ 3:7	Application
§ 3:8	Compare—Legal malpractice actions are not subject to the anti-SLAPP statute

III. WHETHER DEFENDANT'S CONDUCT ARISES FROM AND IS IN FURTHERANCE OF PETITIONING OR FREE SPEECH

§ 3:9	Meaning of "arising from an act in furtherance of petitioning or free speech"
§ 3:10	Defendant's burden
§ 3:11	Timing sequence is not determinative
§ 3:12	Application—Declaratory relief action
§ 3:13	—Cross-complaints and compulsory cross-complaints
§ 3:14	—Retaliatory and oppressive litigation tactics do not trigger anti-SLAPP protection
§ 3:15	Meaning of "in connection with"
§ 3:16	—Application
§ 3:16.50	Compare—Claims arising from false allegations of criminal conduct are not protected

IV. STATUTORY CATEGORIES OF SPEECH AND CONDUCT PROTECTED BY ANTI-SLAPP

§ 3:17	Categories of speech and conduct protected by the anti-SLAPP statute
§ 3:18	Statements or writings in official proceedings (Civ. Proc. Code § 425.16 subd. (e)(1))
§ 3:19	All petition-related activity is protected— Activity need not concern public issue
§ 3:20	—Rationale
§ 3:20.50	Application—Lobbying Activities
§ 3:21	—Ballot measures
§ 3:21.50	Compare—Petitioning activity on private property
§ 3:22	Application—Trademarks
§ 3:23	—Civil rights claims
§ 3:24	Statements or writings in legislative or executive proceedings

Table of Contents

§ 3:25	Application—Internal investigations and
§ 3:26	writings —Reports of unlawful conduct to authorities
§ 3.20 § 3:27	Compare—Anti-SLAPP protection is not
8 3.21	available where the government is not
	exercising rights or where a government
	writing or activity is only incidental to the
	action
§ 3:28	Litigation-related activities broadly protected
§ 3:28.50	Misrepresentation or Failure to Disclose Can
0	Be Protected
§ 3:29	Prelitigation statements and notices
§ 3:30	Compare—Contemplated litigation must
	itself be valid
§ 3:30.50	Application—Petition to enforce a no contest
	clause
§ 3:31	—Soliciting government investigation
§ 3:32	—Investigative reports
§ 3:33	Compare—Tender of defense
§ 3:34	—Bad-faith claim
§ 3:35	—Reports to support insurance claims
§ 3:36	—Issues not properly presented in official
	proceeding
§ 3:37	—Private sexual harassment investigation
	and corrective action process
§ 3:38	Court filings
§ 3:39	Recording lis pendens
§ 3:39.50	Recording a lien
§ 3:40	Compare—No anti-SLAPP protection under
	subdivision (e)(2) for foreign judicial
0.0.41	proceedings
§ 3:41	Settlement offers and negotiations
§ 3:42	Compare—Contract negotiations
§ 3:43	Overlap with the litigation privilege (Civ.
\$ 9.44	Code § 47, subd. (b))
§ 3:44	Application—Illegal activity
§ 3:45	Actions involving attorneys
§ 3:46	-Malicious-prosecution actions
§ 3:47	Abuse-of-process actions
§ 3:48	Actions involving attorneys—Compare— SLAPPbacks
§ 3:49	Compare—Attorney malpractice or
9	misconduct
§ 3:50	Rationale
§ 3:51	Alternative theories against attorneys also
	barred
§ 3:52	Wrongful eviction/unlawful detainer actions
§ 3:53	Compare—When eviction not the basis for
	action

§ 3:54	-Notice of nonjudicial foreclosure
§ 3:55	"Other official proceedings authorized by law"
§ 3:56	Application—Complaints to a school
§ 3:57	—Medical peer-review proceedings
§ 3:58	Compare—Physician's summary suspension
§ 3:59	Application—Veterinarian licensure
§ 3:60	—Planning/permitting documentation
§ 3:61	—NASD investigation
§ 3:62	—State unemployment benefits
§ 3:63	Statutory Arbitration
§ 3:64	Application—State administrative proceedings
§ 3:65	—Uninsured motorist disputes
§ 3:66	—Securities arbitrations
§ 3:66.25	Investigations
§ 3:66.50	Application—Statutory hearing procedures
§ 3:66.75	Compare—Discrimination claims
§ 3:67	—Filing of a stop notice
§ 3:68	-Nonjudicial foreclosure proceeding
§ 3:69	—Public construction bids
§ 3:70	—Private contractual arbitrations
§ 3:71	—Removal of a director of a charitable,
	nonprofit organization
§ 3:72	—Sheriff's auction
§ 3:73	—Union trusteeship proceeding
§ 3:74	Communications in connection with an issue "under consideration" by an official body (Civ. Proc. Code § 425.16 subd. (e)(2))
§ 3:75	Need not concern public issue
§ 3:76	"Connected with" showing required
§ 3:77	Overlap with litigation privilege
§ 3:78	Application—Legislative proceedings
§ 3:79	Compare—Noncompetitive bid contract
§ 3:80	Executive proceedings
§ 3:81	Compare—Fraudulent sales tax reporting
§ 3:82	Judicial proceedings
§ 3:83	Communications in connection with an issue
	"under consideration" by an official body— Official proceedings
§ 3:84	Statements made in public on issues of public interest (Civ. Proc. Code § 425.16 subd. (e)(3))
§ 3:85	"Public forum" is broadly construed
§ 3:86	Recognized "public forums"
§ 3:87	California's Constitution provides broader
J	forum protection
§ 3:88	Application—U.S. mail
§ 3:89	Compare—Not all speech sent through the
	U.S. mail enjoys anti-SLAPP protection

TABLE OF CONTENTS

8 2.00	Application Madia
§ 3:90	Application—Media —Newsletters
§ 3:91	
§ 3:91.50 § 3:92	—Homeowners association proceedings—Newspapers
§ 3:92 § 3:93	—Newspapers —Magazines
	—Magazines —Radio
§ 3:94 § 3:95	—Radio —Television
o .	—Internet
§ 3:96 § 3:97	Compare—Speech threatening bodily harm
	published on website not protected
§ 3:98	—Speech published on Website not involving public concern not protected
§ 3:99	Anti-SLAPP statute protects any other conduct in the exercise of certain constitutional rights
§ 3:100	Civ. Proc. Code § 425.16, subd. (e)(4), enacted to ensure that the anti-SLAPP statute be "construed broadly"
§ 3:101	Distinct from Civ. Proc. Code § 425.16, subd. (e)(2)
§ 3:102	Broader than Civ. Proc. Code § 425.16, subd. (e)(3)
§ 3:103	Judicial "tests" for defining issues of public interest
§ 3:104	Rivero v. AFSCME
§ 3:105	Du Charme v. Int'l Brotherhood of Elec. Workers
§ 3:106	Weinberg v. Feisel
§ 3:107	Judicial "tests" for defining issues of public interest—Broad construction
§ 3:108	"Public issue" and "issue of public interest" are interchangeable
§ 3:109	"Public issue/public interest" is broadly construed
§ 3:110	Issue need not be significant
§ 3:111	Compare—Public's interest in a general subject matter insufficient
§ 3:112	Public issue may be of interest to a definable portion of the public
§ 3:113	Compare
§ 3:114	Application—Celebrities and entertainment
§ 3:115	Compare-Private disputes not public
§ 3:116	Application—Consumer protection information
§ 3:117	—Corporate activity
§ 3:118	—Development affecting the public
§ 3:119	—Domestic violence information
§ 3:120	—Education information
§ 3:121	—Health information
J	

§ 3:122	—Judicial elections
§ 3:123	—Public demonstrations
§ 3:124	—Qualifications for public office
§ 3:125	—Religious groups
§ 3:126	—Sale of securities
§ 3:127	—Sex offense information
§ 3:127.50	Qui Tam litigation
§ 3:128	Compare—Certifying an organic product standard
§ 3:129	—Distribution of union flyer not involving public issue
§ 3:130	—The unauthorized use of an individual's persona
§ 3:131	Civ. Proc. Code § 425.16, subd. (e)(4), protects speech and conduct, including "noncommunicative" conduct
§ 3:132	Application—Anonymous online speech
§ 3:133	—Coordinating meetings to discuss prospective legislation
§ 3:134	—Compelled speech
§ 3:135	—Online database
§ 3:136	—Call-in radio talk show
§ 3:137	Correspondence
§ 3:138	-Creative works
§ 3:139	—Editorial decisions
§ 3:140	—Newsgathering
§ 3:141	Compare—Illegal conduct is not anti-SLAPP protected
§ 3:142	—Commercial speech

V. JUDICIAL TESTS TO DETERMINE ANTI-SLAPP PROTECTION

§ 3:143	"Principal thrust" or "gravamen" of the plaintiff's claim
§ 3:144	Judicial tests to determine whether the anti- SLAPP statute is available
$\S 3:145$	—Applications
§ 3:146	—Compare
§ 3:147	Anti-SLAPP statute is available where defendant's conduct is "mixed"
§ 3:148	Implementing <i>Baral v. Schnitt</i> in California's trial and appellate courts

VI. WHAT A DEFENDANT IS NOT REQUIRED TO PROVE IN PRONG ONE

§ 3:149 What a defendant need not prove in prong one to use the anti-SLAPP statute

§ 3:150	Constitutional violation
§ 3:151	Plaintiff intended to chill the defendant's right
	of petition or free speech
§ 3:152	Plaintiff actually chilled the defendant's
	constitutionally protected activities

CHAPTER 4. CAUSES OF ACTION SUBJECT TO AN ANTI-SLAPP MOTION

OCDOL	OI TO WANTI-SPWIT MOTIC
§ 4:1	Introduction
§ 4:2	Abuse of process
§ 4:3	Antitrust (including unfair competition claims)
§ 4:4	Aiding & abetting
§ 4:5	Barratry
§ 4:6	Breach of confidence
§ 4:7	Breach of contract (including promissory estoppel)
§ 4:8	Breach of the covenant of quiet enjoyment
§ 4:9	Breach of fiduciary duty
§ 4:10	Breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing
§ 4:11	Breach of loyalty
§ 4:12	Breach of trust
§ 4:13	Cancellation of cloud on title
§ 4:14	Civil Extortion
§ 4:15	Civil rights (state and federal)
$\S 4:15.50$	Claim and Delivery
§ 4:16	Concealment
§ 4:17	Conversion
§ 4:18	Defamation (including libel and slander)
§ 4:19	Disclosure of confidential and privileged information
§ 4:20	Discrimination (employment, including wrongful termination claims)
4:21	Discrimination (housing)
4:22	Elder abuse
4:23	Equitable indemnity
4:24	Eviction (fraudulent/wrongful/retaliatory)
4:25	False advertising
4:26	False arrest
4:27	False impersonation
4:28	False Promise
4:29	False report to police
4:30	Fraud (including deceit)
4:31	Harassment (including petitions to prevent workplace violence)
4:32	Infliction of emotional distress
4:33	Interference (intentional/negligent) with contractual relations

§ 4:34	Interference (intentional/negligent) with prospective economic advantage
§ 4:35	Invasion of privacy (including right of publicity and misappropriation)
§ 4:36	Malicious prosecution
§ 4:37	Misrepresentation (intentional and negligent)
§ 4:38	Negligence (and "Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress" ("NIED"))
§ 4:39	Negligent hiring/retention/supervision of employees
§ 4:40	Prima facie tort
§ 4:41	Quiet title
§ 4:42	Rescission
§ 4:43	Retaliation
§ 4:44	Slander of title
§ 4:45	Spoliation of evidence
§ 4:46	Statutory violations
§ 4:46.50	Theft
§ 4:47	Trade libel
§ 4:48	Trespass
§ 4:49	Unfair, unlawful, and/or unfair business practice (including Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200)
§ 4:50	Wrongful foreclosure

CHAPTER 5. PRONG TWO OF THE ANTI-SLAPP STATUTE

I. INTRODUCTION

§ 5:1	Plaintiff's burden to prove "probability" of
	prevailing
§ 5:2	Civ. Proc. Code 425.16, subd. (b)—"Summary
	judgment-like" legal standard
§ 5:3	What constitutes "a probability of prevailing"?
§ 5:4	Legally sufficient

II. PLAINTIFF'S SHOWING/BURDEN IN PRONG TWO

	to who to the second se
§ 5:5	Plaintiff must overcome defendant's substantive legal defenses
§ 5:6	Application—Petition for injunction against civil harassment
§ 5:7	—Showing in a declaratory relief action
§ 5:8	—Showing of common-law malice
§ 5:9	—"Clear and convincing evidence" in actual malice cases
§ 5:10	"Actual malice"

§ 5:11 —Statute of Limitations § 5:12 'Mixed' cause of action?

III. EVIDENTIARY SHOWING

§ 5:13	Plaintiff must submit admissible evidence
§ 5:14	Court "shall" consider pleadings and affidavits
§ 5:15	—Compare
§ 5:16	Proper affidavits/declarations
§ 5:17	Inadmissible opinion and argument
§ 5:18	Separate statements of fact admissible?
§ 5:19	Properly executed declarations
§ 5:20	"Under the laws of California"
§ 5:21	Proper foundation
§ 5:22	—Compare
§ 5:23	Hearsay
§ 5:23.50	Claim and Delivery
§ 5:23.70	Theft
§ 5:24	Court will not weigh or determine credibility
	of competing evidence
§ 5:25	Waiver of evidentiary objections
§ 5:26	Request for judicial notice
§ 5:27	Objections to improper requests for judicial notice may be waived
§ 5:28	Evidentiary issues—Earlier court proceedings bearing on the "probability" of prevailing
§ 5:29	Preliminary injunction proceedings
§ 5:30	Stay proceedings
§ 5:31	Granting of summary adjudication/summary judgment
§ 5:32	Denial of summary judgment in earlier lawsuit
§ 5:33	—Compare
§ 5:34	Rule 11 sanctions ruling
§ 5:35	Collateral estoppel/contractual bar

IV. APPENDIX OF PRONG TWO DECISIONS BY CAUSE OF ACTION

§ 5:36	Appendix of appellate prong-two decisions
§ 5:37	Abuse of process
§ 5:37.50	Aiding & abetting
§ 5:38	Antitrust (including unfair competition claims
§ 5:39	Barratry
§ 5: 4 0	Breach of confidence (including breach of fiduciary duty, loyalty, and trust claims)
§ 5:41	Breach of contract
§ 5:42	Breach of the covenant of quiet enjoyment
§ 5:43	Breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing

§ 5:44	Cancellation of cloud on title
§ 5:45	Civil rights (state and federal)
§ 5:46	Conversion
§ 5:47	Defamation (including libel and slander)
§ 5:48	Disclosure of confidential and privileged information
§ 5:49	Discrimination in employment
§ 5:50	Equitable indemnity
§ 5:51	Eviction (fraudulent, retaliatory, and wrongful claims)
§ 5:52	Extortion
§ 5:53	False advertising (including Bus. & Prof. § 17500 claims)
§ 5:53.50	False arrest
§ 5:54	Fraud
§ 5:55	Harassment
§ 5:56	Infliction of Emotional Distress
§ 5:57	Interference (intentional/negligent) with contractual relations
§ 5:58	Interference (intentional/negligent) with prospective economic advantage
§ 5:59	Invasion of Privacy (including right of publicity and misappropriation)
§ 5:60	Malicious prosecution
§ 5:61	Misrepresentation (intentional and negligent)
§ 5:62	Negligence (including "Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress" "NIED")
§ 5:63	Negligent hiring and supervision
§ 5:64	Prima facie tort
§ 5:65	Quiet title
§ 5:66	Slander of title
§ 5:67	Spoliation of evidence
§ 5:68	Statutory Violation: Brown Act/Open Meetings Law (Gov. Code § 54950)
§ 5:69	Statutory Violation: Child Support Evasion Law (Civ. Code § 1714.4)
§ 5:69.50	Statutory Violations
§ 5:70	Statutory Violation: Consumer Legal Remedies Act (Civ. Code § 1750)
§ 5:71	Statutory Violation: Corp. Code § 5617 (challenge to election)
§ 5:72	Statutory Violation: Election Campaign Laws
§ 5:73	Statutory Violation: Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (FDCPA) (15 U.S.C. § 1692)
§ 5:74	Statutory Violation: Lab. Code § 1102.5 (retaliatory action against a whistleblower)
§ 5:75	Statutory Violation: Megan's Law (sex offender registry—Pen. Code § 290.46)

§ 5:76	Statutory Violation: Public Financial Interest Laws (Gov. Code §§ 1090, 8314)
§ 5:77	Statutory Violation: Prescription Drug Reporting Act (Civ. Code § 2527)
§ 5:78	Statutory Violation: RICO (18 U.S.C. §§ 1961 et seq.)
§ 5:79	Statutory Violation: Rosenthal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (RFDCPA) (Civ. Code § 1788)
§ 5:80	Trade libel
§ 5:81	Trespass
§ 5:82	Unfair, unlawful business practices (including Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200 claims)
§ 5:83	Wrongful Foreclosure

CHAPTER 6. EXEMPTIONS (ACTIONS NOT SUBJECT TO ANTI-SLAPP MOTIONS)

I. INTRODUCTION

6:1	In general
6:2	Narrow construction
6:3	No implied exemptions to the anti-SLAPP statute
6:4	Plaintiff bears burden of proof
6:5	No Automatic Appeal Available if Civ. Proc. Code
	425.17, subds. (b) or (c), Exemptions Triggered

II. PUBLIC ENFORCEMENT ACTIONS

§ 6:6	Public enforcement actions
§ 6:7	Government enforcement of consumer laws exempt
§ 6:8	Application—Civil action to enjoin allegedly misleading advertising
§ 6:9	—Civil action to enjoin attorney from filing unfair competition lawsuits
§ 6:10	[Reserved]
§ 6:11	[Reserved]
§ 6:12	Compare—City's cross-complaint against developer

III. ACTIONS FILED SOLELY IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST

§ 6:13	Action filed solely in the public interest (Civ. Proc.
	Code § 425.17, subd. (b))
§ 6:14	Criteria plaintiff must satisfy
§ 6:15	Entire complaint scrutinized

§ 6:16 Comparison to Civ. Proc. Code § 1021.5 Application—Actions for unfair business practices § 6:17 and class actions § 6:18 —Class action lawsuits § 6:19 -Compare-Putative class action § 6:20 — — Unruh civil rights action § 6:21 —Actions to invalidate statutes -Lawsuit to invalidate automobile insurance § 6:22 discount statute § 6:23 —Qui Tam Actions —Qui tam action for insurance fraud § 6:24

IV. ACTIONS INVOLVING CERTAIN COMMERCIAL SPEECH

§ 6:25	Claims involving certain commercial speech (Civ. Proc. Code § 425.17, subd. (c))
§ 6:26	Conditions for exemption
§ 6:27	Distinction from Civ. Proc. Code § 425.17, subd. (b)
§ 6:28	Application—Action for false advertising
§ 6:29	—Action for false and deceptive representations
§ 6:30	Compare—Action based on franchisor's promises to act
§ 6:30.50	Application—Taxi cab lawsuit for false advertising on the Internet
§ 6:31	Compare—Communications unrelated to business goods and services
§ 6:32	—Action based on critical statements sent to customers of a business competitor
§ 6:33	—Action for "client stealing"
§ 6:34	Misappropriation action based on a publication
§ 6:35	—Action based on publication of listing in sex offender registry
§ 6:36	-Action based on a consultant's report
§ 6:37	-Action based on trade group representations
§ 6:38	—Action based on class-action lawyer's client solicitation
§ 6:39	—Negligence action against publisher of prescription drug monograph
§ 6:39.50	—Political speech and petitioning activity
§ 6:40	Limitations
§ 6:41	Specific speech not subject to Cal. Civ. Proc. Code § 425.17 exemptions
§ 6:42	Specific entities not subject to Civ. Proc. Code § 425.17 exemptions

V. CRIMINALLY ILLEGAL CONDUCT

§ 6:43	Illegal conduct is not protected by anti-SLAPP statute
§ 6:44	Preliminary inquiry
§ 6:45	"Illegal" means criminal behavior
§ 6:46	Application—Criminal extortion
§ 6:47	—Illegal wiretapping
§ 6:48	—Theft
§ 6:49	—False police report
§ 6:50	Compare—Action challenging hospital's tax-
3 0.00	exempt status
§ 6:51	—Alleged Criminal Impersonation
\$ 6:52	—Mere possession of allegedly stolen property
§ 6:53	—Action based on attorneys' failure to complete
	required oaths and paperwork
§ 6:54	—Action for challenging legality of investigation
8 6:55	—Action based on creation of an estate plan
8 6:56	—Action based on seeking a bench warrant
8 6:57	—Action for collusion to defraud
§ 6:58	-Action for conduct in a wrongful eviction
8 6:59	-Action for breach of lease agreement and
	covenant of good faith
§ 6:60	—Action based on conduct in violation of duties of
	confidentiality and loyalty
§ 6:61	—Action based on submission of fraudulent site
	plans to a city
§ 6:62	—Libel action for criticism of a bank
§ 6:63	—Civil rights claim

VI. OTHER ACTIVITY NOT PROTECTED BY ANTI-SLAPP

§ 6:64	Constitutionally protected First Amendment
	activity other than free speech and petitioning
§ 6:65	-Right of free exercise of religion
§ 6:66	Other bars to using the anti-SLAPP statute
§ 6:67	"True threats"
§ 6:68	Waiver by contract
§ 6:69	Res judicata/collateral estoppel

CHAPTER 7. ANTI-SLAPP LITIGATION FORMS

- § 7:1 Model Attorney-Client Engagement Letter Language
- § 7:2 Anti-SLAPP Motion, Supporting Declaration, Request for Judicial Notice
- § 7:3 Motion to Take Discovery to Oppose Anti-SLAPP Motion

- § 7:4 Opposition to Motion to Take Discovery
- § 7:5 Opposition to Defendant's Special Motion to Strike
- § 7:6 Stipulations
- § 7:7 Required Notices to the California Judicial Council
- § 7:8 Motion for Attorney's Fees and Costs, Supporting Declarations

CHAPTER 8. STATE ANTI-SLAPP STATUTES

- § 8:1 State anti-SLAPP statutes
- § 8:2 Arizona
- § 8:3 Arkansas
- § 8:4 California
- § 8:5 Connecticut
- § 8:6 Delaware
- § 8:7 District of Columbia
- § 8:8 Florida
- § 8:9 Georgia
- § 8:10 Hawaii
- § 8:11 Illinois
- § 8:12 Indiana
- § 8:13 Kansas
- § 8:14 Louisiana
- § 8:15 Maine
- § 8:16 Maryland
- § 8:17 Massachusetts
- § 8:18 Minnesota
- § 8:19 Missouri
- § 8:20 Nebraska
- § 8:21 Nevada
- § 8:22 New Mexico
- § 8:23 New York
- § 8:24 Oklahoma
- § 8:25 Oregon
- § 8:26 Pennsylvania
- § 8:27 Rhode Island
- § 8:28 Tennessee
- § 8:29 Texas
- § 8:30 Utah
- § 8:31 Vermont
- § 8:31.50 Virginia
- § 8:32 Washington
- § 8:33 Guam

Table of Laws and Rules

Table of Cases

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Index

Chapter 1

Introduction

- § 1:1 Scope
- § 1:2 Prong one/step one
- § 1:3 Prong two/step two
- § 1:4 Exemptions—When the anti-SLAPP statute is not available
- § 1:5 Terminology

KeyCite®: Cases and other legal materials listed in KeyCite Scope can be researched through the KeyCite service on Westlaw®. Use KeyCite to check citations for form, parallel references, prior and later history, and comprehensive citator information, including citations to other decisions and secondary materials.

§ 1:1 Scope

Code of Civil Procedure §§ 425.16 et seq.—California's "anti-SLAPP" statute—is the frontline defense against any action involving petitioning or free speech. In 1992, the California Legislature enacted Civ. Proc. Code § 425.16 to address a "disturbing increase in litigation designed to infringe" free speech and petitioning activities through the filing of a SLAPP (Civ. Proc. Code § 425.16, subd. (a)), an acronym for a "strategic lawsuit against public participation." The anti-SLAPP statute is available in state court and against state claims filed in federal court. It was enacted to "nip SLAPP litigation in the bud" (Braun v. Chronicle Publishing Co., 52 Cal. App. 4th 1036, 1042, 61 Cal. Rptr. 2d 58, 25 Media L. Rep. (BNA) 1594 (1st Dist. 1997)) through a very early and very fast summary judgment-like procedure that allows defendants (including cross-defendants) to file a "special motion to strike" to dismiss entire complaints (or specific causes of action) or mere portions of a cause of action, making the plaintiff respond before he or she may have an opportunity to conduct discovery to avoid the costs and delay that chill the exercise of constitutionally protected rights. As one appellate court put it, "[t]he point of the anti-SLAPP statute is that you have a right *not* to be dragged through the courts because you exercised your constitutional rights." (People ex rel. Lockyer v. Brar, 115 Cal. App. 4th 1315, 1317, 9 Cal. Rptr. 3d 844 (4th Dist. 2004).)

Once a defendant files a special motion to strike, the following happens:

- An automatic stay of discovery; absent court permission, no discovery is permitted (Civ. Proc. Code § 425.16, subd. (g)); see § 2:50.
- Amendments to the complaint are not permitted, and the plaintiff cannot dismiss the complaint without facing mandatory attorney's fees; see §§ 2:58; 2:90; 2:91.
- The court hears the motion within 30 days or as soon as docket conditions permit (Civ. Proc. Code § 425.16, subd. (f)); see §§ 2:41 to 2:42.
- If the defendant shows that the plaintiff's action arises from the defendant's petitioning or free speech activities, the plaintiff must prove he or she has pleaded and presented a legally sufficient claim supported by admissible evidence demonstrating that "there is a probability" that the plaintiff will prevail on the action (Civ. Proc. Code § 425.16, subd. (b)(1)); see §§ 5:3 to 5:5.
- If the motion is granted, then the action is dismissed and the defendant recovers his or her attorney's fees and costs (Civ. Proc. Code § 425.16, subd. (c)(1)); see § 2:85.
- If the motion is denied, the defendant has an automatic right of appeal (see § 2:69) and activity in the trial court is stayed pending the appeal (Civ. Proc. Code § 425.16, subd. (i)). See § 2:77.

Because of its strategically powerful features, the anti-SLAPP statute is regularly used in the defense of petitioning and free speech activities arising in a variety of different causes of action. See Chap. 4 (Appendix of Causes of Action). "A plethora of appellate litigation has made the SLAPP acronym a household word—at least in legal households." (Paterno v. Superior Court, 163 Cal. App. 4th 1342, 1357 n.1, 78 Cal. Rptr. 3d 244, 36 Media L. Rep. (BNA) 1882 (4th Dist. 2008).) Beyond California, dozens of states have enacted statutes with varying degrees of protection for defendants. See Chapter 8-State Anti-SLAPP Statutes. This book is designed to help make sense of and organize the large and rapidly growing body of anti-SLAPP published appellate case law. This book summarizes hundreds of published California Court of Appeal and California Supreme Court anti-SLAPP decisions as well as anti-SLAPP opinions of the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals. Practitioners should also consider reviewing the *literally hundreds* of additional *un*published anti-SLAPP opinions that have been decided by California's appellate courts, in particular, those rendered by the appellate court that will hear any appeal of their

Introduction § 1:3

case. It is organized by key elements of the anti-SLAPP statute, an overview of which follows.

§ 1:2 Prong one/step one

"Resolution of an anti-SLAPP Motion requires a court to engage in a two-step process." (Jarrow Formulas, Inc. v. LaMarche, 31 Cal. 4th 728, 3 Cal. Rptr. 3d 636, 74 P.3d 737 (2003).) In the first step or prong, the defendant must show that the conduct underlying the plaintiff's cause of action or portions of the cause of action that are asserted as grounds for relief—arises from the defendant's constitutional rights of free speech or petition. (Civ. Code § 425.16, subd. (b)(1).); Baral v. Schnitt, 1 Cal. 5th 376, 395, 205 Cal. Rptr. 3d 475 (Cal. 2016). See § 3:10.

In prong one, "the focus of the statute is not the form of plaintiff's cause of action, but the defendant's activity that gives rise to the asserted liability." (Midland Pacific Bldg. Corp. v. King, 157 Cal. App. 4th 264, 272, 68 Cal. Rptr. 3d 499 (2d Dist. 2007).) The statute identifies four categories of protected petitioning and free speech activities. (Civ. Proc. Code § 425.16, subd. (e)(1) to (4)). The law expressly provides that it "shall be construed broadly [(Civ. Proc. Code § 425.16, subd. (a))] to encourage participation in free speech and petition activities." (Wanland v. Law Offices of Mastagni, Holstedt & Chiurazzi, 141 Cal. App. 4th 15, 22, 45 Cal. Rptr. 3d 633 (3d Dist. 2006).) A large body of appellate case law has developed concerning conduct by a defendant that is within prong one and protected by the anti-SLAPP statute. See Chap. 4 (Appendix of Causes of Action). Courts have dismissed a wide variety of causes of action using the statute. See §§ 5:36 to 5:82.

If the defendant cannot satisfy prong one, the court will deny the motion without proceeding to prong two.

§ 1:3 Prong two/step two

In the second prong or step, the burden shifts to the plaintiff to prove that he or she has a legally sufficient claim and to prove with "admissible evidence" a "probability" that the plaintiff will prevail on the claim. This is similar to a summary judgment standard in which the plaintiff's claim (or entire complaint) must be "legally sufficient and supported by a prima facie showing of facts to sustain a favorable judgment if plaintiff's evidence is credited." (Navellier v. Sletten, 29 Cal. 4th 82, 88–89, 124 Cal. Rptr. 2d 530, 52 P.3d 703 (2002).) See §§ 5:3 to 5:5. Because the plaintiff must demonstrate the substantive merits of his or her claim in prong two, a broad swath of substantive law (and evidence) is analyzed by courts in prong two. See §§ 5:36 to 5:82.

If the plaintiff cannot show a probability of prevailing, then the court will grant the special motion to strike and dismiss the plaintiff's action (either the entire lawsuit, individual causes of action, or portions of causes of action involving protected activity that are asserted as grounds for relief). (Civ. Proc. Code § 425.16, subd. (b)(1).) The defendant is entitled to recover their attorney's fees and costs incurred in the trial and appellate courts. (Civ. Proc. Code § 425.16, subd. (c)(1).) See § 2:85. If the court denies the special motion to strike-either because the anti-SLAPP statute was not triggered or because the plaintiff showed a probability of prevailing—then the defendant may immediately appeal. (Civ. Proc. Code § 425.16, subd. (i).) See § 2:69. A plaintiff may recover their attorney's fees and costs only if the filing of the anti-SLAPP motion was frivolous. (Civ. Proc. Code § 425.16, subd. (f).)

§ 1:4 Exemptions—When the anti-SLAPP statute is not available

A special motion to strike is not available against public enforcement actions brought by a public prosecutor (Civ. Proc. Code § 425.16, subd. (d)), actions brought "solely" in the public interest (Civ. Proc. Code § 425.17, subd. (b)), and in certain commercial speech cases. (Civ. Proc. Code § 425.17, subd. (c).) Additionally, a movant may not use the anti-SLAPP statute to protect petitioning or speech activity that is "illegal as a matter of law—meaning criminal activity, not merely violative of a statute or common law." (Flatley v. Mauro, 39 Cal. 4th 299, 320, 46 Cal. Rptr. 3d 606, 139 P.3d 2 (2006).) If the court determines that an action falls within Civ. Proc. Code § 425.16 (d) or any of the exemptions in Civ. Proc. Code § 425.17, then the defendant has no automatic right of appeal. (Civ. Proc. Code § 425.17, subd. (e).)

§ 1:5 Terminology

The term "SLAPP" was coined by Professors George W. Pring and Penelope Canan of the University of Denver. See Studying Strategic Lawsuits Against Public Participation: Mixing Quantitative and Qualitative Approaches, 22 Law & Soc'y Rev. 385 (1988). A lawsuit dismissed by Civ. Proc. Code § 425.16 (the "anti-SLAPP" statute) is said to be a "SLAPP" even though the action may not be frivolous or have little in common with the attributes of the type of lawsuits that prompted the statute's original enactment. Hupp v. Freedom Communications, Inc., 221 Cal. App. 4th 398, 403, 163 Cal. Rptr. 3d 919 (4th Dist. 2013) (although the complaint brought by individual against Internet publisher "does not

generally fit . . . the description of a typical SLAPP suit, it is subject to an anti-SLAPP motion if it fits within the statutory definition.").